STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Jasper County  
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

ERIC DARIEN,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001685  
\_\_\_\_\_

BRIEF OF PETITIONER  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JUN 06 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

By failing to object to portions of an audio recording of Petitioner's statement to police wherein a police officer improperly shifted the burden of proof to Petitioner and gave his lay opinion regarding how the shooting occurred, did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance in derogation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution?

## STATEMENT

On December 16, 2008, a Jasper County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder. App. 363-364. The state, represented by Steven H. Knight, called the case to trial before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen and a jury on February 8-10, 2010. App. 1. Michael McCloskie represented Petitioner. App. 1. Ultimately, the jury acquitted Petitioner of murder, but found him guilty of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. App. 239, ll. 14-22. Judge Mullen sentenced Petitioner to eighteen years' imprisonment. App. 249, ll. 3-6; App. 365. Thereafter, Petitioner, through counsel, filed a motion to reconsider his sentence. App. 251. On June 8, 2010, Judge Mullen heard arguments on the motion. App. 252. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Mullen reduced Petitioner's sentence to fifteen years' imprisonment. App. 260, ll. 19-20; App. 365.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal and was represented by Robert M. Dudek, Chief Appellate Defender, on appeal. App. 263. Appellate counsel filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), on December 13, 2011. App. 263-276. On appeal, Petitioner challenged the trial judge's refusal to "direct a verdict of acquittal as a matter of law based on self-defense where it was undisputed the decedent attacked [Petitioner] and injured him, and [Petitioner] shot him in self-defense." App. 263-276. On May 16, 2012, the Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's appeal in an unpublished opinion. App. 277-278; State v. Darien, 2012-UP-307 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 16, 2012). Remittitur was issued on June 5, 2012. App. 279-280.

On February 21, 2013, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 281-290. The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on March 3, 2016, before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh. App. 299. J. Rutledge Johnson represented the state, and

James K. Falk represented Petitioner. App. 300. By an order dated May 17, 2016, Judge McIntosh denied Petitioner relief from his conviction and sentence. App. 350-361. Receiving notice of the order on July 22, 2016, Petitioner's counsel filed served a notice of appeal on August 10, 2016. On April 24, 2017, Petitioner filed his petition for writ of certiorari. The state responded on September 8, 2017. On March 7, 2018, this Court granted certiorari and ordered briefing. This brief of petitioner follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Recently, this Court clarified the standard of review an appellate court reviewing a PCR action must use when analyzing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel pursuant to Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984). Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180-181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839-840 (2018). This Court explained the “standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue” raised on appeal. Id. at 180, 810 S.E.2d at 839. The reviewing court will “defer to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them.” Id. at 180, 810 S.E.2d at 839. However, the appellate court will “will review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.” Id. at 180-181. In another recent case, this Court explained the appellate courts give “great deference to the factual findings of the PCR court and will uphold them if there is any evidence of probative value to support them.” Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). “Questions of law are reviewed de novo,” and the reviewing court must “reverse the PCR court’s decision when it is controlled by an error of law.” Id. See also Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014); Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013).

## ARGUMENT

By failing to object to portions of an audio recording of Petitioner's statement to police wherein a police officer improperly shifted the burden of proof to Petitioner and gave his lay opinion regarding how the shooting occurred, trial counsel provided ineffective assistance in derogation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

### **Relevant facts**

Around 7 p.m. on September 29, 2008, Montana Wilber, Jr., an officer with the Jasper County Sheriff's Office, and other deputies, responded to an emergency 911 call from Petitioner in reference to a shooting. App. 66, ll. 10-21; App. 69, ll. 19-21; App. 71, ll. 14-21; App. 72, ll. 13-14. While emergency medical personnel tended to Richard "Bubba" Furman, Wilber and his colleagues arrested Petitioner. App. 66, l. 22 – App. 67, l. 10.<sup>1</sup> Petitioner cooperated fully with the police and provided Wilber with his handgun. App. 67, ll. 11-14; App. 72, ll. 15-19. Petitioner also expressed his fear that Bubba's family members, who were present at the shooting, would harm him. App. 70, ll. 2-9.

Petitioner suffered head injuries in the confrontation with Bubba. App. 76, ll. 10-14. Therefore, the police transported him to the hospital for a medical evaluation prior to interrogating him at the police station. App. 76, ll. 18-24. The emergency room physician who treated Petitioner found bruises around Petitioner's face and scalp. App. 160, l. 17 – App. 161, l. 4.

There was no question that Petitioner shot and killed Bubba. The only question for the jury to resolve was whether the shooting was murder, voluntary manslaughter, or self-defense.

---

<sup>1</sup> Richard "Bubba" Furman was pronounced dead at the scene. App. 80, ll. 2-17.

*The statement*

Prior to the start of trial, the judge inquired about “any pretrial motions.” App. 34, ll. 17-18. The prosecutor indicated some concern with Petitioner’s statement, but explained that trial counsel did not “have any problems or any motions.” App. 36, ll. 13-17. Trial counsel explained his understanding that a hearing on the statement was “mandatory.” App. 36, ll. 18-20. However, trial counsel stated he had “no grounds to challenge the statement.” App. 38, ll. 12-13. Thereafter, Donald Hipp with the Jasper County Sheriff’s Office, testified regarding his interrogation of Petitioner on September 30, 2008. App. 39, l. 6 – App. 46, l. 18. The state sought to publish the audio recording for the judge during the hearing. App. 43, ll. 19-25. Trial counsel objected, explaining the hearing was to determine the voluntariness of the statement, “not ... the contents of the statement.” App. 44, ll. 5-13. Trial counsel assured the trial judge he had had an opportunity to review the recording and there was no need for the judge to hear the recording during the pre-trial proceeding. App. 44, ll. 14-25.

According to Hipp, Detective Jeff Crosby was present for the interrogation as well. App. 42, ll. 9-12. Also, Hipp explained the interrogation was audio-recorded. App. 42, ll. 13-19; State’s Trial Exhibit #2. After Hipp’s testimony, trial counsel explained that if Crosby were going to “testify to basically the same thing” as Hipp, then trial counsel had “no objection to proffering that testimony as such.” App. 46, l. 25 – App. 47, l. 2. The state indicated Crosby’s testimony would mirror Hipp’s, and the judge inquired directly of Crosby, who agreed that his testimony would be the same as Hipp’s. App. 47, ll. 3-10. Thereafter, trial counsel stated there were “no grounds of any substance for [him] to challenge the voluntary nature of this statement given by [Petitioner], and for that reason [he would not] argue.” App. 47, ll. 13-16. The judge then found the statement voluntary and in compliance with the Constitution. App. 47, ll. 17-21.

*The state's case-in-chief*

Shakaria White and Bubba were in a romantic relationship. App. 82, ll. 16-25. Around 7 p.m., Shakaria was driving her car in which Bubba was a passenger. App. 83, ll. 6-16. Upon seeing Petitioner at his sister's home, Bubba instructed Shakaria to turn the car around. App. 83, ll. 20-23. Petitioner was going to see his son, Jamontay Darien, who lived with his mother, Tamika Furman, who was also Bubba's sister. App. 121, ll. 2-25; App. 173, ll. 2-11. Shakaria complied with Bubba's direction, stopping the car at Tamika's house. App. 83, l. 24 – App. 84, l. 4. Bubba “jumped out of the car and went straight at” Petitioner. App. 84, ll. 5-7.

Shakaria originally told the police that Bubba hit Petitioner immediately upon exiting the car, but she told the jury that Petitioner struck the first blow. App. 92, ll. 19-25. The two men argued and then started fighting. App. 84, ll. 8-17; App. 109, ll. 10-17; App. 122, ll. 20-22. The physical fight ended when Bubba got up and started walking toward Shakaria, but some words were still exchanged. App. 84, l. 25 – App. 85, l. 3; App. 123, ll. 8-10; App. 126, ll. 15-19. Although numerous people were trying to intercede, “nobody could get Bubba off of” Petitioner. App. 88, ll. 19-24; App. 93, l. 25 – App. 95, l. 7; App. 98, ll. 18-20; App. 122, l. 23 – App. 123, l. 6; App. 126, ll. 11-14. In fact, in the words of Shakaria, “nobody could do nothing with Bubba when he's mad,” and he was “very upset” with Petitioner. App. 95, ll. 1-7; App. 123, ll. 10-11. Some witnesses claimed Bubba told Shakaria to take him home and he wanted his gun. App. 85, ll. 2-3; App. 90, ll. 2-3; App. 98, ll. 21-22; App. 105, ll. 1-4; App. 128, ll. 2-6. Others indicated Bubba told Shakaria to get his gun, suggesting the gun was close by and readily available for Bubba's use. App. 178, ll. 15-23. Petitioner heard Bubba say, “Get my gun,” and he believed

Bubba was going to kill him immediately. \*\*\*; App. 213, ll. 17-23. Shakaria then heard shots “ring out.” App. 85, ll. 4-5; App. 88, l. 25 – App. 89, l. 1.<sup>2</sup>

The first shot missed Bubba. App. 98, ll. 22-24; App. 110, ll. 15-24; App. 124, ll. 8-10. Although some witnesses claimed Bubba was walking away when the first shot rang out, Leon Darien explained that Bubba was “standing still” at that time. App. 184, ll. 8-10. Jamontay Darien admitted that Bubba walked away from Petitioner initially, but Bubba “[t]hen ... turned back around. Then the first shot happened.” App. 112, ll. 1-7; App. 116, ll. 4-17.

Bubba then charged at and tackled Petitioner. App. 98, ll. 24 – App. 99, l. 8; App. 102, ll. 5-13; App. 105, ll. 10-14; App. 110, l. 25 – App. 111, l. 3; App. 115, ll. 12-15; App. 116, ll. 14-17; App. 124, ll. 11-25. The two men went down to the ground, where Bubba continued to punch Petitioner. App. 111, ll. 4-5; App. 115, ll. 16-18; App. 116, ll. 18-19; App. 125, ll. 15-22; App. 127, ll. 15-22. Petitioner shot approximately three more times while the men were struggling on the ground. App. 111, ll. 8-12; App. 116, ll. 20-22.<sup>3</sup>

When the prosecution called the law enforcement officers in order to introduce Petitioner’s statement made subsequent to his arrest, trial counsel stipulated to the voluntariness of the statement. App. 145, l. 20 – App. 146, l. 5. Unsurprisingly, the statement was admitted without objection. App. 150, ll. 2-5. While the prosecutor was playing the audio tape of the interrogation, trial counsel objected “to anything about any kind of arrests or anything else.” App. 150, ll. 13-14. The judge sustained the objection and instructed the jurors that “the last

---

<sup>2</sup> The evidence was conflicting on the number of gunshots. Shakaria White heard five. App. 88, l. 25 – App. 89, l. 1. Bubba’s daughter, Y’Briana Furman, heard three. App. 102, ll. 3-4. Jamontay Darien referenced four. App. 110, ll. 15-16; App. 111, ll. 8-12; App. 116, ll. 20-22. Tamika Furman heard three or four. App. 123, l. 23-24; App. 125, ll. 6-8.

<sup>3</sup> According to the pathologist, the deceased suffered three gunshot wounds. All of which were potentially fatal. App. 135, ll. 13-15; App. 140, ll. 12-18; App. 141, ll. 18-25.

portion of that tape was improper” and “should not be before” them. App. 150, ll. 18-20. She ordered the jurors “not to consider it in any way” in their deliberations. App. 150, ll. 20-21. Trial counsel took no exceptions to the curative instructions and made no additional motions. App. 150, ll. 23-25.

*The defense*

Leon Darien, Petitioner’s cousin, saw Petitioner and Bubba fighting. App. 177, l. 6. Bubba “was on top of [Petitioner] punching [Petitioner] in the face and ramming his head into the ground.” App. 177, ll. 7-10. Petitioner yelled for help. App. 177, ll. 10-11. Petitioner’s mother lived nearby and she ran to her son’s rescue. App. 177, ll. 11-12. Finally, Bubba got up. App. 177, l. 13. Petitioner was “dazed” and required Leon’s assistance in walking toward his mother’s house. App. 177, ll. 13-14; App. 181, ll. 3-5. Petitioner could not have gotten away from Bubba due to his dazed state. App. 180, ll. 18-20. Petitioner was shaking and unsteady on his feet. App. 182, ll. 1-9.

Leon heard Bubba tell Shakaria to go get his gun. App. 177, ll. 17-23. Leon next saw gunfire, but the shot missed Bubba. App. 178, ll. 18-20; App. 183, ll. 15-17. Bubba then “rushed” Petitioner. App. 178, ll. 20-21; App. 184, ll. 4-18. Leon saw gunfire again, and Bubba and Petitioner fell to the ground. App. 178, l. 23 – App. 179, l. 2. According to Leon, the “gunshots were as Bubba attacked [Petitioner], and as both of them [were] falling.” App. 179, ll. 15-18; see also App. 184, ll. 21-22.

*Order denying post-conviction relief*

By an order dated May 17, 2016, Judge McIntosh denied Petitioner relief from his conviction and sentence. App. 350-361. Finding trial counsel’s testimony credible, the PCR judge noted that trial counsel “admitted he did not consider redacting the police statements

before the trial, but should have.” App. 354; App. 356. The order explained that on the tape, Petitioner’s prior jail time was discussed. App. 354. Although trial counsel failed to move to exclude those portions or redact those portions prior to trial, trial counsel requested and received a curative instruction during the trial. App. 354-355. Additionally, the tape included a police officer “saying that he had nothing to prove and talking about the shooting” of Bubba. App. 355. The judge noted trial counsel “testified the biggest issue concerning [Petitioner]’s statements to the police was the police’s statements to Petitioner.” App. 355. “Specifically, one police officer stated to [Petitioner], ‘you do not have the right to take someone else’s life’ and ‘I have nothing to prove ... The court has to decide those things.’” App. 355. According to the order, counsel admitted he did not ask for curative instructions or move for a mistrial regarding those statements. App. 355. Importantly, counsel “stated he did not have a trial strategy as to the statements.” App. 355.

After citing the applicable law for reviewing a trial lawyer’s conduct for ineffective assistance of counsel, the PCR judge concluded trial counsel “effectively represented [Petitioner] concerning his statements to law enforcement.” App. 358. Despite recognizing that trial counsel “testified that he should have objected to the statements prior to them being published to the jury,” the judge determined trial counsel’s “decision to not challenge [Petitioner]’s statement” was based on information provided by Petitioner. App. 358-359. Thus, the court reasoned, trial counsel’s actions could not be challenged as unreasonable thereafter. App. 359. Noting that a curative instruction is deemed to have cured any alleged error, the PCR court erroneously noted that trial counsel asked for and received a curative instruction concerning the statements made by the police officer during the interrogation. App. 359. The court concluded Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof. App. 359.

## Discussion

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Id. at 686. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, “the defendant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient” and “that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.” Id. Thus, in a PCR action, the applicant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) counsel’s performance was deficient under prevailing professional norms and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the result of the trial would have been different. Id. at 695.

### *Deficient performance.*

“When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel’s assistance, the defendant must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” Id. at 687-688. “[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel’s assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances.” Id. at 688.

“It is elementary that an accused is presumed innocent until proven guilty and that the burden is upon the State to prove the accused committed the crime charged.” State v. Posey, 269 S.C. 500, 503, 238 S.E.2d 176, 177 (1997). “This rule stems from the constitutional presumption of innocence and the State’s burden of proving the accused guilty.” State v. Primus, 349 S.C. 576, 584, 564 S.E.2d 103, 107 (2002) overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). “An accused has the right to rely entirely upon this presumption of innocence and the weakness in the State’s case against him.” Posey, 269 S.C. at 503. “He would clearly be

deprived of that right if an adverse inference is permitted to be indulged against him because of its exercise.” Id.

In State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 406, 768 S.E.2d 656, 658 (2015), this Court acknowledged “the propriety of law enforcement interrogation techniques, including misrepresenting the existing and strength of the evidence against an accused, as well as asking the accused to produce evidence voluntarily. This Court explained that “[s]uch matters are typically examined *in camera* when the trial court is making a preliminary determination as to the admission of a confession.” Id. “But such evidence will rarely be proper for a jury’s consideration.” Id. at 406, 768 S.E.2d at 659.

During Brewer’s interrogation, the “investigators frequently referenced *and quoted* many purported eyewitnesses to Brewer shooting both victims. This evidence was hearsay, offered for the sole purpose of proving the truth of the matter asserted, establishing Brewer’s guilt to all charges.” Id. at 406-407, 768 S.E.2d at 659 (emphasis in original). This Court implored trial courts and lawyers to exercise “caution” “in the admission of such evidence to ensure that all out-of-court statements are either ‘admissible for a valid nonhearsay purpose or as an exception to the hearsay rule in order to safeguard against an end-run around the evidentiary and constitutional proscriptions against the admission of hearsay.’” Id. at 407-408, 768 S.E.2d at 659 (quoting State v. Miller, 676 S.E.2d 546, 556 (N.C. Ct. App. 2009)). This Court reminded trial courts that ““the questions police pose during suspect interviews may contain false accusations, inherently unreliable, unconfirmed or false statements, and inflammatory remarks that constitute legitimate points of inquiry during a police investigation, but that would otherwise be inadmissible in open court.”” Id. at 408, 768 S.E.2d at 659 (quoting Miller, supra). This Court held the officer’s insistence that Brewer prove his innocence during the interrogation video had

“no place before the jury.” *Id.* (emphasis in original). This Court found it “chilling” to have “to *remind* the state that an accused is presumed innocent and that the state has the burden to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

In the audio recording of Petitioner’s interrogation, the officer challenged Petitioner’s rendition of the facts – self-defense – by telling Petitioner that the officer did not have anything to prove. Specifically, the officer juxtaposed himself – someone who was not at the scene at the time of the shooting – with Petitioner – someone who was at the scene at the time of the shooting. The officer was not the one at the scene, and therefore, the officer was not the one who had to prove anything. The obvious implication was that Petitioner was at the scene and was the person who *had to prove* something. The officer’s statement shifted the burden of proof to Petitioner. Contrary to the officer’s claims during the interrogation, the officer was the person who had to prove the case. As a representative of the state, it was the officer’s duty to marshal the evidence in the case. Petitioner had no burden whatsoever; yet, the officer told him that he did – and by extension, the jury. The officer’s improper statement regarding the burden of proof conveyed the improper burden to the jury.

In its return, the state argued that trial counsel could not be expected to object to burden-shifting by the officer because “Brewer’s guidance was not yet in existence at the time of Petitioner’s trial.” *Ret.* at 9. The state’s argument neglects to acknowledge that the impropriety of shifting the burden of proof to the defendant in a criminal trial is as old as the Constitution itself. *See In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 361 (1970) (explaining “[t]he requirement that guilt of a criminal charge be established by proof beyond a reasonable doubt dates at least from our early years as a Nation”). The Brewer decision made clear it was not creating new law; in fact, this Court was clear the Brewer decision was a “reminder” to the state not to introduce evidence that

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