STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Jasper County
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-001685

RECEIVED

NOV 05 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ERIC DARIEN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTIAN SAVILLE
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar # 103272

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-4124

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

A. The PCR court properly denied relief where the challenged comments by law enforcement did not suggest Petitioner bore the burden of proof while merely explaining his guilt would be determined by a jury, where the jury was repeatedly instructed throughout the trial that the State bore the burden of proving Petitioner’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, and where the recorded exchange with law enforcement allowed Petitioner the opportunity to present his version of events without the perils of testifying at trial.

Petitioner argues Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to portions of the video interview which included alleged burden-shifting comments by law enforcement. However, ample probative evidence refutes this allegation as law enforcement officers never indicated Petitioner bore the burden of proof, the comments were clearly made in the context of

asking Petitioner to clarify what happened, and the same officers explained his guilt was an issue for the jury during the interview. Furthermore, notwithstanding the lack of burden-shifting in the comments at issue, Petitioner cannot satisfy his burden of proving prejudice because the trial court repeatedly instructed the jury that the State bore the burden of proving the charges against Petitioner beyond a reasonable doubt and Petitioner enjoyed a presumption of innocence.

i. The statement by law enforcement did not shift the burden of proof.

The PCR court properly denied relief and found Trial Counsel effectively represented Petitioner regarding the statements made by law enforcement because the challenged statements never amounted to burden-shifting. App. p. 358. Due process requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every fact necessary to constitute the crime for which an accused is charged, while a defendant is ordinarily not required to prove anything at all. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970); see generally State v. Attardo, 263 S.C. 546, 552, 211 S.E.2d 868, 871 (1975) (recognizing the burden may be on the defendant to establish a defense only in limited circumstances). In the present case, the statements Petitioner challenges do nothing to contradict this principle.

During the recorded interview, Investigator Hipp remarked, “I wasn’t out there. I’m not the one to prove something.” State’s Ex. #2 at 22:40. Shortly thereafter, as Petitioner proceeded to question why he was charged with murder, the accompanying law enforcement officer explained, “That’s what the court’s for. The court’s got to decide whether it was self-defense or not.” Petitioner continued to argue he shot Victim in self-defense to which law enforcement replied, “You’re being charged with murder, that doesn’t mean you’re guilty of murder. That’s for a court to decide whether you’re guilty or not, for the jury.” State’s Ex. #2 at 24:40. At no point in the interview did law enforcement assert Petitioner bore the burden of proving his

innocence. Moreover, at no point did law enforcement assert it was their place to judge whether Petitioner is guilty or not guilty. Throughout the interview, as Petitioner argued about why he was being charged, the law enforcement officers repeatedly explained the issue of whether he was guilty of murder would be determined by the court, specifically the jury. State's Ex. #2 at 24:40.

Investigator Hipp's statement, "I wasn't out there. I'm not the one to prove something," was clearly made in the context of the specific conversation in which Petitioner was questioning law enforcement as to why he was charged with murder. Indeed, Investigator Hipp was not there at the time of the incident, and was logically unable to answer his own questions about the incident. Furthermore, Investigator Hipp was correct in asserting it would not be his role to prove Petitioner guilty of murder. The Solicitor would be tasked with proving Petitioner's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, obviously not Investigator Hipp. Furthermore, as the officers correctly explained to Petitioner, the question of his guilt would be determined by a jury, not the police officers. State's Ex. #2.

The innocuous statement in this case is not analogous to alleged burden-shifting statements which actually have been held by this Court to be improper. For example, this Court has repeatedly held *jury instructions* on reasonable doubt which charge the jury to "seek the truth" are disfavored for their risk of unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof away from the State. State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 26, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000). For example, in State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 253, 737 S.E.2d 473, 474 (2012), this Court held the jury should not have been instructed to reach a verdict that would "represent truth and justice for all parties that are involved." In Daniels, the actual jury instructions erroneously advised that a *verdict* was to represent truth and justice to all parties, as of course opposed to the jury's verdict reflecting the

State's proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. In this case, law enforcement rendered no comment or speculation as to what the jury's *verdict* should be, nor did law enforcement suggest the burden of proof should be anything other than the State's burden of proving Petitioner guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. Rather, the officer merely mentioned they were not present during the incident as a rhetorical device to elicit clarifying information from Petitioner as well as address Petitioner's questions regarding the nature of his charge and repeatedly explained to Petitioner a jury would determine his guilt. State's Ex. #2. It should also be noted this Court nevertheless affirmed the convictions in both Aleksey and Daniels despite the burden-shifting concerns.

Respectfully, while this case is a far cry from cases historically held by this Court to involve burden-shifting, Petitioner's reliance on State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 768 S.E.2d 656 (2015), is similarly misplaced. In Brewer, a recorded police interview was played for the jury in which law enforcement repeatedly and unequivocally instructed the defendant to "prove his innocence," if he was indeed innocent. Id. at 406. As this Court summarized, law enforcement in Brewer insisted "*ad nauseum*" that the defendant prove his own innocence. Id. at 408. First, it should be noted that while this Court felt the need to "briefly comment" on this issue, this Court did not reverse Brewer's murder conviction on this ground, but rather reversed on the basis of an unrelated issue involving the improper admission of hearsay statements by law enforcement. Furthermore, the isolated statement by law enforcement in Petitioner's case falls well short of the statements *repeatedly* made in Brewer. In Brewer, law enforcement explicitly instructed the defendant to prove his own innocence on multiple occasions. Id. at 405. In this case, Investigator Hipp merely noted he was not present at the scene and not the one to prove something in the context of his conversation with Petitioner. In this case, law enforcement never instructed

Petitioner to prove his own innocence or suggested he needed to. In this case, the officers made no mention of Petitioner proving anything at all.

Notwithstanding the fact this case falls well short of the problematic language in Brewer, and the fact the issue was not dispositive in Brewer, it should be noted Brewer was decided approximately five years after Petitioner's trial was held in 2010. Our courts have repeatedly refused to hold trial counsel to a standard of clairvoyance which would require them to anticipate future decisions by the Court. See Teamer v. State, 416 S.C. 171, 183, 786 S.E.2d 109, 115 (2016) (holding "the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the jury instruction when no case law existed rendering the instruction improper per se. This Court has previously held that reasonable representation does not require trial counsel to foresee successful appellate challenges to novel questions of law."); Gilmore v. State, 314 S.C. 453, 457, 445 S.E.2d 454, 456 (1994) ("We have never required an attorney to be clairvoyant or anticipate changes in the law . . ."); Thornes v. State, 310 S.C. 306, 309-10, 426 S.E.2d 764, 765 (1993), overruled on other grounds by Brightman v. State, 336 S.C. 348, 520 S.E.2d 614 (1999) ("This Court has never required an attorney to anticipate or discover changes in the law, or facts which did not exist, at the time of the trial."). Approximately five years after Petitioner's trial, this Court in Brewer commented, "Law enforcement's *ad nauseam* insistence that Brewer prove his innocence has *no* place before the jury." Brewer, 411 S.C. at 408 (emphasis in original). Therefore, notwithstanding the fact the facts of this case fall well short of the facts of Brewer, Trial Counsel also cannot be held ineffective for failing to object pursuant to the guidance of an opinion which would not be rendered until approximately five years later. Respectfully, Petitioner primarily relies on guidance from an opinion not in existence at the time of Petitioner's trial, and from a case in which law enforcement insisted "*ad nauseum*" that the

defendant “prove his own innocence” by turning in his handgun, where Petitioner’s case included only a rhetorical explanation by the investigator that he was not present at the incident and therefore did not have all the facts.

ii. Trial Counsel strategically used the recorded interview to present Petitioner’s version of the facts to the jury while Petitioner did not have to testify at trial.

Trial Counsel’s performance regarding the statement at issue is all the more reasonable as the interview allowed Petitioner to effectively relay his version of the events to the jury without requiring Petitioner to take the stand. “Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel.” Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992). In his brief, Petitioner commented, “Importantly, counsel ‘stated he did not have a trial strategy as to the statements.’” Br. P. 10. However, Trial Counsel did testify the trial strategy in this case was based on self-defense, and the recorded interview fit squarely into the strategy of self-defense and Trial Counsel repeatedly referenced the interview in his closing argument. App. p. 305, ll. 4-10. The recorded interview afforded Petitioner the valuable opportunity to present his version of the facts, and specifically, make his argument the shooting was in self-defense. In the interview, Petitioner recounted a “tussle” ensuing after Victim hit him. State’s Ex. #2 at 08:30. From there, he claimed Victim proceeded to punch him in the head repeatedly while threatening his life. State’s Ex. #2 at 08:40. Notably, Petitioner then claimed to have heard Victim remark he was “going to the car to get his gun,” and then felt it was time to protect himself. State’s Ex. #2 at 09:30. After Victim had returned to said car, Petitioner claimed, Victim began rushing Petitioner and grabbed him at which point Petitioner shot at Victim to protect himself. State’s Ex. #2 at 09:47. Throughout the rest of the interview, Petitioner remained

adamant he only shot Victim in self-defense. In fact, Petitioner told law enforcement he was not shooting to *kill* Victim and claimed, “I would give my life to get his back.” State’s Ex. #2 at 16:57; 19:03. Petitioner therefore set forth his self-defense argument by way of the video without having to subject himself to cross-examination or impeachment on the witness stand.

Other instances in record raise the inference Trial Counsel’s decisions regarding the recorded interview actually were motivated by trial strategy. While Petitioner noted Trial Counsel testified at the PCR hearing he did not have a trial strategy regarding the interview, it is important to consider the PCR hearing was held six years after Petitioner’s trial. The passage of time can often wear on the memories of well-reasoned decisions made in the “heat of battle” of avenues not pursued, objections withheld, or evidence not presented. Here, the record suffices to reveal Trial Counsel’s strategic decisions where Trial Counsel did not articulate them six years after the trial. See Wood v. Allen, 558 U.S. 290 (2010) (affirming state PCR court’s finding that counsel made a strategic decision not to inquire further into a the petitioner’s report about his mental deficiencies where the record supported that finding, despite Counsel not articulating the strategy). The record reveals Trial Counsel strategically used the recorded to present Petitioner’s side of the story and repeatedly made use of the interview in his closing argument. For example, when explaining the element of malice to the jury, Trial Counsel told the jury:

Well, remember when you hear that charge and when you deliberate on whether or not there’s malice in this case on the part of [Petitioner] what he told Detective Donald Hipp when he was interviewing him. And he gave a thorough interview, didn’t he? One of the things he said: “I didn’t intend to kill nobody.” App. p. 208, ll. 13-18.

“I didn’t intend to kill nobody.” Another thing that he mentioned in the interview – and I know that the interview was kind of hard to understand because Eric talks so fast, but the fact of the matter is I heard him say distinctly: “I would give my life to get him back.” Now, tell me: Is that an indication that somebody’s heart is filled

with malice? App. p. 209, ll. 5-10.

Furthermore, Trial Counsel later referenced Petitioner's recorded interview to support his argument Petitioner thought Victim was armed and dangerous, and even suggested the jury listen to the interview again, clearly emphasizing the interview as part of his trial strategy:

Do you remember [Petitioner's] testimony when he talked – not his testimony – the statement when he gave his statement voluntarily to Donald Hipp? Do you remember that? He didn't know whether he had a gun or not ... He heard the threat, "Get my gun," coming out of the mouth of [Victim] and his thought was: I thought this man was going to kill me now." ... *If you don't remember it that way and have any doubt about it, let's play it back for you.*" App. p. 213, ll. 17-25 (emphasis added).

Clearly, Petitioner's exchange with law enforcement in the interview formed a substantial basis of Petitioner's defense at trial, although the recollection of this calculation may have been blurred by the years between the trial and Petitioner's PCR hearing. "A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight..." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. Furthermore, as previously noted, there is no authority to support the allegation that the investigator's isolated statement in this case, which was almost immediately followed by explanation Petitioner's guilt would be determined by a jury and made in the context of responding to Petitioner's questions, could have shifted the burden of proof away from the State. Accordingly, the PCR Court properly found Trial Counsel effectively represented Petitioner regarding the statement at issue, and this Court should affirm the PCR court's dismissal.

iii. Petitioner was not prejudiced by the statement because the jury was properly instructed of the State's burden of proof throughout the trial.

Notwithstanding the fact the statement at issue did not shift the burden of proof away from the State, the PCR court also properly denied relief because this allegation is decisively

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